
PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING

5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 20TH JUNE, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Authority’s 
Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members 

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

OPEN SESSION

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991

3. P/17/0294 - Y Goedwig, Cardiff Road, Treharris, 
CF46 5NB 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 5 - 20

4. P/17/0350 - Land adjacent to Garth Cottages and 
Foreman Place, Gwynnes Close, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 21 - 34

Information Reports

5. P/16/0235 Appeal Decision 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 35 - 40

6. P/17/0307 Appeal Decision 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 41 - 44

7. Review of Planning Application Decisions 2018 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 45 - 48

8. Delegated Report 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 49 - 58



Licensing

9. Delegated Authority - Taxi Licensing 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 59 - 62

10. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors  H Barrett (Chair) 
                    C Tovey (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:  J Amos, D Chaplin, M Colbran, 
E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis, J Thomas 
and S Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

 
 

DATE WRITTEN 8th June 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th June 2018 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/17/0294 29th January 2018 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Demolition of existing dwelling (Y 
Goedwig) and erection of 22 
dwellings with associated access 
road 

Y Goedwig 
Cardiff Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5NB 
 

Howrefreshing Property 
Developments Ltd  
c/o C2J Architects And 
Town Planners 
F.a.o. Mr A Dallimore 
Unit 1A Compass 
Business Park 
Pacific Road 
Ocean Park    

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
PURPOSED OF REPORT 
To further consider planning application P/17/0294 
 
At the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing Committee meeting on the 28th February 
2018, it was resolved to accept the recommendation to grant planning permission 
subject to conditions and the applicant entering into a Section 106 Agreement to 
secure a financial contribution towards the provision of affordable housing and a new 
footpath link. 
 
At the time of the initial report (attached below), the applicant failed to provide details 
of the anticipated development costs, which would have more accurately informed 
the viability assessment of the development using the Three Dragons Toolkit. 
Following the decision made by Committee on the 28th February 2018, a viability 
appraisal has now been submitted by the applicant, which provides detailed 
information on the costs of the development and the anticipated sales revenue. 
 
Given the viability assessment submission, the requirement for an affordable housing 
contribution or any other appropriate planning obligation has been re-assessed by 
the Town Planning Division’s Policy Group Leader using the Three Dragons Toolkit. 
Having inputted more accurate and site specific financial information into the toolkit, 
the conclusion is that if the planning obligations were sought, it would render the 
development financially unviable. As such it is now recommended that this 
application be approved without the provision of any Section 106 Agreement and 
subject to the same conditions set out in the report.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to conditions 1 – 18 in the original 
report. 
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an irregular shaped area of land measuring approximately 
0.93 hectares, situated to the east of Ashgrove and to the north (rear) of Fernhill 
Terrace. The site comprises a mixture of slopes and plateaus, although in the main it 
slopes downwards from north to south. The site is largely covered by bracken and 
bramble scrub with a few small saplings scattered across the site. A lot of the 
vegetation within the site had previously been cleared and what is evident within the 
site now is essentially regenerated vegetation.  
 
The northern boundary of the site is partly bound by a woodland area and two 
residential properties which form part of Ashgrove. Within the site, along part of the 
northern boundary, are a number of small trees which are protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order. 
 
To the west, the site is adjoined by two residential properties and their respective 
garden areas. To the south is Cardiff Road and a rear access lane which serves the 
properties along Fernhill Terrace. Within the western part of the site is a detached 
dwelling known as Y Goedwig, which is served by an existing access road that links 
to Cardiff Road. To the east is a woodland area with Treharris Park beyond to the 
north-east. 

Page 6



 
  

Page 7



PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the erection of 22 dwellings including a mixture 
of detached and semi-detached dwellings with 3 and 4 bedrooms. To accommodate 
the development, the existing property (Y Goedwig) would be demolished. The layout 
of the development would essentially comprise two rows of dwellings. Two storey 
dwellings (a total of 5) would be situated along the southern part of the site with a 
frontage onto Cardiff Road. Across the northern part of the site would be three storey 
dwellings (a total of 17) that front onto a new road, with the ground floor level 
(accommodating a garage) set into the sloping land.  
 
The dwellings located at the southern end of the site would measure 6m wide by 
7.8m deep and 8.3m high with a pitched roof. Their front elevations would have a 
traditional appearance to reflect the neighbouring terraced properties, incorporating 
bay windows and a canopy above the front door. A stepped access to Cardiff Road 
would be provided to the front with parking located to the rear via a new access road. 
These dwellings would have a painted render finish with synthetic slate roof tiles. 
 
The dwellings located at the northern part of the site would measure 6.3m wide by 
9.2m deep and 11.5m high with a pitched roof. Due to the sloping nature of the site 
these properties would be partly set in the land with a garage provided at the ground 
floor level and the rear garden accessed at first floor level. The main habitable rooms 
would be provided at first and second floor level with a bedroom accommodated 
within the roof space. These properties would be of a modern appearance with a 
gable feature to the front elevation and canopy over the front door. A dormer window 
would also be provided on the rear roof planes. The external finishes would largely 
comprise painted render on the elevations with brickwork at the ground floor level 
(with some brickwork detailing on the front and rear elevations). Additionally, 
synthetic slate tiles would be used on the roofs. 
 
A new access road would be provided which links to Cardiff Road in a similar position 
to the existing driveway. The road would be constructed to adoptable standard with a 
5.5m wide carriageway and 2m wide footway on either side. The existing driveway 
into the site would need to be altered to accommodate a wider access and visibility 
splays of 2.4m by 43m in both directions. The road would initially have a 1 in 20 
gradient and would become steeper (1 in 10) in the transition to the upper part of the 
site where it would then vary between 1 in 12 and 1 in 24 gradients. Additionally, a 
turning area would be provided at the end of the road. Each dwelling would 
accommodate two parking spaces, with some provided on driveways and some 
within integral garages. 
 
A detailed landscaping scheme has not been provided at this stage. However, the 
proposed site plan sets out the intended approach to the soft landscaping. Planting 
would be introduced to either side of the main access into the site which may include 
a mixture of shrubs and trees. Across the middle of the site would be a grassed 
embankment with a number of trees planted across its entire length. The row of 
dwellings in the northern part of the site would be broken up by three strips of 
landscaping with trees also located in the front garden areas. The existing protected 
trees would be retained and fenced off to protect them during the development of the 
site and separate them from the private garden areas. 

Page 8



PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/17/0365 - Variation of condition 1 of planning permission P/14/ 0071  

(relating to a residential scheme for 9 dwellings) to extend the 
time limit for the submission of reserved matters by 3 years. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 05.02.2018 

 
P/14/0071 - Variation of condition 3 of Planning Permission P/11/0065  

(relating to the residential development of the site for 9 
dwellings) to extend the time limit for the submission of reserved 
matters by 3 years. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 22.12.2014 
 

P/11/0065 - Variation of Condition 3 of planning consent P/08/0133  
(relating to the residential development of the site for 9 
dwellings) to extend the time limit for the submission of reserved 
matters by 3 years. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 05.05.2011 

 
P/08/0133 - Application under Section 73 of the Town and Country  

Planning Act 1990 to extend the time for the submission of 
reserved matters for a further 3 years. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 20.10.2011 

 
P/06/0659 - Construction of new access road (Reserved Matters Application). 
  
   REFUSED permission on 30.06.2011 
 
P/06/0379 - Construction of new access road. 
 
   REFUSED permission on 05.03.2012 
 
P/03/0476 - Residential development for 9 houses (Outline Application). 
 
   REFUSED on 09.06.2004 and subsequently ALLOWED at  

appeal (Ref APP/U6925/A/04/1169017) on 18.03.2005 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader  - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

access, drainage, retaining works and structural 
design. 

 
Planning Division’s 
Policy Group Leader - No objection subject to a S106 agreement for a  

Page 9



contribution towards affordable housing provision. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Countryside Officer  - No objection subject to a condition relating to a bat  

mitigation strategy for the demolition of Y Goedwig. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Landscape Architect - Concern has been raised in respect of the potential  

visual impacts from across the valley and the 
dense nature of the development, which extends 
the urban presence into the well forested slope. 

 
Environmental Health 
Manager   - No response. 
 
South Wales Police  - No objection. 
 
Welsh Water   - No objection subject to a condition relating to  

surface water and land drainage. 
 
Wales & West Utilities - No objection. 
 
Western Power  
Distribution.   - No response. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to neighbouring properties on 
12.10.17 and site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site on 18.10.17. A 
press notice was also placed in a local newspaper on 19.10.17. 
 
Following amendments to the proposed development, a further publicity exercise was 
carried out with letters sent to neighbouring properties and notices displayed within 
the vicinity of the site on the 31.01.18. 
 
As a result of the initial publicity exercise one letter of objection was received 
highlighting the following concerns: 
 

 The proposed dwellings located immediately behind Fernhill Terrace would be 
particularly close to existing rear garden areas. Together with the elevated 
levels of the site, the development would result in a loss of privacy and have 
an overbearing impact on the neighbouring properties. 

 

 There are concerns that the use of heavy vehicle and associated traffic and 
parking during the development of the site would lead to congestion and pose 
a highway safety, particularly for children in the area at the start and end of the 
school day. 

 
No objections were received following the second publicity exercise undertaken. 

Page 10



 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 9, November 2016: 
 
Para’s 4.11.9 – 4.11.12 set out the principles of good design in new development 
proposals, which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context. 
Regard should be given to the appropriate scale, appearance, landscaping and 
quality of building design and should also be accessible for all. 
 
Para’s 5.5.1 – 5.5.3 note that the impact a development proposal may have on 
wildlife or the landscape is an important consideration in determining applications. 
Where ever possible adverse effects on the environment should be avoided or 
acceptably minimised. 
 
Para 8.7.1 sets out the criterion that should be considered where transport 
implications may occur, such as impacts on local travel demand, public transport 
provision, accessibility and highway safety. 
 
Para 9.3.1 – 9.3.4 indicates new housing developments should be well integrated 
with its local context and not cause damage to the area’s character or amenity. High 
quality design and landscape standard are also important considerations.  
 
Para 11.1.13 states that local authorities should seek to protect and enhance the 
rights of way network as a recreational and environmental resource, as well as 
promote the use of national cycle networks. 
 
Technical advice note (TAN): 
 

 TAN 5, Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 

 TAN 18, Transport, March 2007 

 TAN 12, Design, March 2016 
 
Local planning policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

 BW2 - Development Strategy - Secondary Growth Area 

 BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints 

 BW5 - Natural heritage 

 BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

 BW17 - Securing community infrastructure benefits 

 AS22 - Affordable housing contributions  

Page 11



 TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG 1 - Affordable Housing, March 2012 

 SPG 2 - Planning Obligations, March 2012 

 SPG 4 - Sustainable Design, July 2013 

 SPG 5 - Nature and Development, May 2015 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATION 
 
Land use 
 
The application site is located within the settlement boundary and Secondary Growth 
Area, where the majority of new development is encouraged and generally supported 
in principle by policies BW2 and BW4 of the LDP. Additionally, the development of 
the site for residential purposes has been established with the recent renewal of 
outline permission (P/17/0365). 
 
Design and landscaping 
 
The layout of the development has largely been informed by the topography of the 
site, which has presented a particular challenge for providing a new access road with 
appropriate gradients. As a result, the layout of the development is split in to two 
notable sections, being a small group of 5 dwellings at the bottom of the site fronting 
on to Cardiff Road, and a row of 17 dwellings in the upper part of the site.  
 
The dwellings fronting onto Cardiff Road have been positioned to follow a similar 
building line as Fernhill Terrace with a similar setback from the road and elevated 
above the street. They would be two storey buildings with features (e.g. bay 
windows) incorporated on the front elevation to reflect the appearance of Fernhill 
Terrace, which provides a consistent street frontage along Cardiff Road. The existing 
front stone boundary wall would be retained, with part of it altered to accommodate a 
new access into the site. Planting would also be incorporated along the top of the 
walls with a stepped access from the main road to the front of the properties. 
 
The dwellings at the top of the site have been positioned to follow the contours of the 
sloping land, which follows a similar alignment to the existing properties within 
Ashgrove. These dwellings have been designed with a more modern appearance, in 
part owing to the fact that there is a mixture of house types and styles in the 
immediate vicinity. They have been designed specifically to deal with the sloping 
nature of the site, with garages provided at ground floor level and partly set into the 
land. The habitable rooms would then be provided in elevated positions to the street, 
which is not dissimilar to the existing properties within both Ashgrove and along 
Fernhill Terrace. It is noted that their three storey design is somewhat out of context 
with the predominantly two storey buildings in the vicinity. However, it should be 
noted that the two properties (Bella Vista and Bluebells) to the north are also three 
storey buildings with garages at the ground floor level. The scale of the buildings 
would largely be noticeable from within the site and to a lesser extent from the 
immediate surroundings due to the intervening trees and buildings. From more 

Page 12



distant views, particularly across the valley to the south-west (Cefn Glas), the 
development would be more visible within the wider landscape. A photomontage has 
been submitted in support of the application, which illustrates that the scale of the 
buildings would not be apparent and the roof line would generally follow that of the 
existing properties within Ashgrove. The development would also be perceived as a 
continuation of Ashgrove which is framed by the woodland areas.   
 
The row of properties across the top of the site would be split by strips of landscaping 
that would help to break up the overall mass of the development, whilst also 
providing an opportunity for planting along the street. A landscaped area of public 
open space would also be provided along one side of the access road which would 
contribute to the overall quality of the street. Whilst a detailed landscaping scheme 
has not been provided at this stage, notwithstanding the comments from the 
Landscape Architect, the site plan demonstrates a suitable scheme can be provided 
which would enhance views towards the site and integrate the development with the 
surrounding area. 
 
The proposed layout provides an appropriate response to the context of the site and 
would integrate well with the surrounding pattern of development. The general 
design, scale and appearance of the dwellings are acceptable and would not have an 
adverse impact on the character of the area. Therefore the proposal complies with 
policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Amenities 
 
The existing properties to the north (Bella Vista and Bluebells) would be located at 
least 25m away from the development and in an elevated position with views over the 
application site. Although the proposed dwellings in the northern part of the site 
would be in an elevated position, in relation to Fernhill Terrace to the south, the 
separation distance of 23m away from their rear gardens is sufficient enough to 
prevent any loss of amenity. 
 
It is acknowledged that the development would be situated to the side of No. 15 and 
18 Ashgrove. The proposed dwellings would be orientated to avoid any direct 
overlooking and would be at least 15m away with a number of intervening trees and 
hedgerows to further screen the development. Similarly a proposed dwelling located 
to the side of 1 Fernhill Terrace would have a minimal impact on the amenities of the 
neighbouring occupants. 
 
Concerns were initially raised by the residents of Fernhill Terrace in respect of the 
siting of dwellings adjacent to their rear lane. However, the layout of the development 
was subsequently amended resulting in those dwellings being removed and replaced 
with a landscaped area. Therefore, these initial concerns have been overcome and it 
is noted that no objections were received in respect of the revised layout. 
 
Taking into consideration the siting, orientation and separation distance between the 
proposed dwellings and existing properties adjoining the site, the development would 
not adversely impinge on local amenity in terms of overlooking or overbearing 
impacts. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 

Page 13



Highways 
 
The topography of the site has presented a challenge for the development in order to 
achieved appropriate gradients and radii for the new access road. The point of 
access into the site would remain the same from Cardiff Road. Although the entrance 
would be increased in width to improve the visibility splays and enable two-way 
traffic. The proposed access road would be of an appropriate design, in terms of its 
dimensions, gradients, provision of footways and turning facilities, which would meet 
the expected requirements for its future highway adoption. Adequate off-street 
parking would be provided for each property with an additional 4 spaces created 
along the highway for visitor parking. There would also be limited scope for some on-
street parking within the site. 
 
The main adopted highway serving the site is of a suitable standard to accommodate 
the additional traffic that would be generated by the development. On the approach to 
the site from the south-west, the road is of a suitable width and can adequately 
accommodate two-way traffic. However, it is accepted within the vicinity of the site 
and further along the road to the north-east, the traffic flow can be hampered by on-
street parking, which limits the ability for vehicles to pass in places. The Engineering 
and Traffic Group Leader has highlighted traffic speed issues in the area, but is 
satisfied that the existing highway could accommodate the development. In this 
respect no highway objection has been raised.  
 
However, there are concerns that the traffic associated with the development of the 
site, such as large delivery and construction vehicles, may cause a degree of 
disruption and congestion along Cardiff Road. This may pose a particular issue 
during peak times in the mornings and afternoons (i.e. during the schools runs to 
Edwardsville School). Therefore, a Construction Management Plan could be secured 
by condition to appropriately control construction traffic primarily during these busy 
times e.g. delivery times, staff/visitor parking and the storage of materials. 
 
The highway network serving the site is of an adequate standard to accommodate 
the development and would not give rise to adverse highway safety concerns. 
Therefore the proposal complies with policies BW12 and TB11 of the LDP. 
 
Environment 
 
The western half of the application site is identified in the LDP to be ancient 
woodland, which is protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). Historically there 
were a number of trees scattered across the site, which were then felled to make way 
for the development of the site. Subsequent enforcement action was taken for the 
felling of the trees, which was ultimately resolved by the planting of replacement 
trees, now located in the north-west corner of the site. It is proposed that a heras 
fence would be erected during the development of the site to ensure the trees are not 
damaged. The majority of the trees with a TPO would sit outside of the proposed 
private garden areas to avoid any future damage or pressure for their removal. 
 
Given the extensive vegetation across the site an Ecological Assessment has been 
submitted in support of the application, which included a visual inspection of the site 
to determine the potential for any impacts on protected species and habitats. The 

Page 14



assessment concludes that the scrub habitat is dominated by dense bramble and 
bracken with low botanical diversity and is overall considered to have a low 
ecological value. Furthermore, the assessment notes that there was no evidence of 
protected species. However it considered there to be some potential for the scrub 
habitats to provide opportunities for breeding birds and refugia for reptiles.  
 
To accommodate the proposed development, the existing dwelling (Y Goedwig) 
would need to be demolished. The Ecological Assessment has noted that a number 
bat species have been recorded within 1km of the site in the last 5 years. Indeed the 
presence of bats roosting in nearby properties and using the area for foraging has 
been previously recorded. Therefore, a further assessment was carried out which 
involved an inspection of Y Goedwig to determine its potential to be used by roosting 
bats. The report concludes that no evidence of bats were found within the roof space. 
However it notes that there were a number of features, particularly in the soffit boxes 
which would be suitable for roosting bats. The Planning Division’s Countryside Officer 
is satisfied with the submitted reports and notes that whilst there is potential for bats 
to utilise the building, the development site has capacity to mitigate/compensate for 
the loss of the habitat. Additionally, a license would also need to be sought from 
Natural Resources Wales, which would likely be granted since the loss of the building 
would not have a significant adverse impact on the species of bats that would likely 
use the habitat. A condition could be imposed to ensure the appropriate demolition of 
the existing dwelling (Y Goedwig) without causing harm to bats and for the provision 
of suitable mitigation measures e.g. provision of new bat roosting features. Therefore 
the proposal complies with policy BW5 of the LDP. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the LDP consider the requirements for planning 
obligations and affordable housing respectively. On sites where more than 10 
residential units are proposed within the Secondary Growth Area, a 5% on-site 
affordable housing contribution would be sought. Based on the proposed site plan, 
this would amount to the provision of a single affordable residential unit on the site. 
However, given the location of the site away from existing affordable housing stock 
and that the development would only secure a single affordable residential unit, this 
would likely present management issues for a Registered Social Landlord. As such, 
in this instance, a financial contribution would be more beneficial towards the delivery 
of affordable housing elsewhere in the Secondary Growth Area. Additionally, a 
financial contribution is sought for the provision of a new footpath link from the 
eastern boundary of the site into Treharris Park in order to improve the accessibility 
of a key area of public open space. 
 
Using the Three Dragon’s Toolkit, the Planning Division’s Policy Group Leader has 
assessed the viability of the development. A financial contribution of £70,000 is 
sought towards the affordable housing contribution and £15,000 towards the 
provision of a new footpath link, together with an appropriate monitoring fee. This 
would be secured by means of a Section 106 agreement. 
 
  

Page 15



CONCLUSIONS 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have 
been considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh 
Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
For the above reasons the proposed development is acceptable and complies with 
the relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following recommendation is made: 
 
 
RECOMMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS and the 
applicant (and anyone else with an interest in the land) ENTERING INTO A SECTION 106 
AGREEMENT. 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 
  
 Dwg No. AL(01)01 Rev H (Proposed Site Plan) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)03 (Public Open Space Plan) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)10 Rev C (Proposed Site Sections - Sheet 1) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)11 Rev D (Proposed Site Sections - Sheet 2) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)12 Rev B (Proposed Site Sections - Sheet 3) 
 Dwg No. AL(90)03 Rev C (Tree Protection Plan) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)20 Rev C (Floor Plans - Plot A - Variant A) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)21 Rev B (Elevations - Plot A - Variant A) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)22 (Floor Plans - Plot A - Variant B) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)23 Rev B (Elevations - Plot A - Variant B) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)24 (Ground Floor Plan - Plot A - Variant C) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)25 (Floor Plans Excl. Ground - Plot A - Variant C) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)26 (Elevations - Plot A - Varient C) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)30 Rev B (Plans & Elevations - Plot B) 
 Dwg No. AL(01)31 (Plans & Elevations - Plot B - Varient B) 
 Ecological Assessment dated September 2017 
 Addendum Bat Survey Report, 15th February 2018 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the 

scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Prior to the construction of the dwellings hereby approved details/samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the dwellings shall 

Page 16



be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed development will 

be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining buildings in the interests of 
visual amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 4. No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or 

indirectly with the public sewerage system. 
  
 Reason - To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect 

the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to 
the environment and to accord with policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 5. No development shall take place until details, including structural calculations and 

facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The walls shall 
be completed in accordance with the approved details before the development 
hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  
 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 

of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan .  
  
 6. No development shall commence until details of the existing and proposed ground 

levels, including sections through the areas of public open space and each plot, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason - In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure an appropriate form of 

development and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development 
Plan. 

 
 7. The proposed access road and footways hereby approved, shall be surfaced in 

tarmacadam or an alternative durable material, in accordance with details to be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing  before works 
commence on site. The proposed access road, shall be constructed in accordance 
with the approved details and completed up to base course level prior to the 
occupation of any dwelling and fully completed (wearing course level) prior to the 
occupation of the last dwelling, hereby approved. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of road safety in accordance with Policies BW12 and TB11 

of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 8. Prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby approved a plan indicating the 

positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The boundary 
treatment shall be completed as approved prior to the occupation of the dwellings. 

  

Page 17



 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive and 
boundaries protected in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 9. Prior to any demolition of the dwelling known as Y Goedwig, a Bat Mitigation 

Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The strategy shall set out the timing of works, method of demolition, bat 
protection measures and details/location(s) of proposed measures of mitigation. All 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, under the 
supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist, and the approved mitigation measures 
shall retained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason - To protect bats in accordance with Policy BW5 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 

Development Plan. 
 
10. No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping. 
The scheme shall include indications of all existing trees (including spread and 
species) and hedgerows on the land, identify those to be retained and set out 
measures for their protection throughout the course of development. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan.  

 
11. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 

be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of 
the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
12. A landscape management plan, including management responsibilities and 

maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas, other than privately owned 
domestic gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority prior to the occupation of any of the dwellings on the site. The 
landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

  
13. The areas highlighted in green on drawing No. AL(01)03 (Public Open Space Plan) 

shall only be used as open-space and shall not be incorporated within the curtilage 
of the residential plots or used for residential purposes. 

  

Page 18



 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 
interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
14. No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout 
the construction period. The statement shall provide for: 

  
 i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
 iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
 iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 

and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
 v) wheel washing facilities;  
 vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 

construction; and 
 vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works. 
 viii) a scheme for the management of construction traffic to and from the site outside 

of the hours of 08:15 - 09:15 and 14:45 - 15:45 to avoid conflict with peak drop 
off/pick up times relating to Edwardsville School. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of the highway safety and free flow of traffic and to protect 

the environment and so as to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan.  

 
15. Construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Mondays 

to Fridays and 08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Public 
Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of nuisance to 

occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Development Plan. 

 
16. The integral garages to be provided shall be kept available for the parking of motor 

vehicles at all times. 
  
 Reason - To ensure that cars are parked off the highway in the interests of highway 

safety and to accord with Policies BW12 and TB11 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan 

 
17. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) (or any order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no fences, gates or walls 
shall be erected within the curtilage of any dwelling house forward of the principle 
elevation of that dwelling house. 

  

Page 19



 Reason - To preserve the open plan character of the housing layout in the interests 
of visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
18. Notwithstanding the provisions of schedule 2, part 1, classes A and B of the Town 

and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended 
for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification), no extensions shall be erected other than those expressly authorised 
by this permission. 

  
 Reason - In the interest of visual and residential amenity in accordance with Policy 

BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. It is an offence to intentionally or recklessly kill, injure or take any wild animal listed 

as protected in the Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000 under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017. In the event that bats are found during the demolition works, those works shall 
cease and further advice should be sought from Natural Resources Wales and the 
Planning Division's Countryside Officer. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
            

DATE WRITTEN 8th June 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Caroline Pulley 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th June 2018 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/17/0350 30th November 2017 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Construction of two buildings 
comprising 8 flats 

Land Adjacent To Garth 
Cottages And Foreman 
Place 
Gwynnes Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Mr R Price  
c/o S4b Architects 
Mr R Coles 
4B Castle Parade 
Usk 
NP15 1AA    
 

 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



Councillor Clive Jones has requested this application be reported to committee in order to 
consider the concerns of local residents.    
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site is an irregular shaped parcel of land measuring approximately 0.1 
hectares in area.  It is located north east of Garth Cottages and to the north west of 
Trevethick Street in Merthyr Tydfil.  The site is bounded by those streets and a densely 
covered embankment which forms part of the Town Centre Conservation Area. 
Topographically, the site slopes downwards from north-west to south-east to a relatively flat 
plateau area which lies adjacent to the end elevation of number 8 Garth Cottages.  
Vehicular access is currently achieved from the west via a gated entrance off the highway 
serving Garth Cottages.  It is understood that the site previously accommodated a 
playground.   However, the use of the land as a playground ceased many years ago and 
the site is now overgrown with clear evidence of fly tipping and large areas of Japanese 
Knotweed.  Adjacent to the site and to the rear of Trevethick Street is a culverted 
watercourse (Nant Morlais Brook) which discharges into the River Taff.   
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the construction of two buildings comprising a total of 
8 self-contained, one bedroom, flats on an area of land situated to the east of 8 Garth 
Cottages and north of numbers 31 to 55 Trevethick Street, Merthyr Tydfil.   
 
The proposed buildings would be two-storey, each measuring 11.4m in width by 7.8m in 
depth and finished with a pitched roof reaching a maximum height of 8m.  The two buildings 
would have rendered elevations, concrete tiled roofs and uPVC windows.  
 
Block A would follow the alignment and general layout of the adjacent dwelling, number 8 
Garth Cottages.  It would face onto the rear of Trevethick Street with its side elevation being 
positioned 2.7m away from the gable end of number 8 Garth Cottages.  Its front elevation 
would be located 7.5m from the rear gardens of neighbouring properties positioned along 
Trevethick Street.  Block B would be positioned at a right angle to Block A so that its front 
elevation would face a westerly direction and towards the highway serving Garth Cottages.  
The two buildings would each comprise two, one bedroom flats on the ground floor 
(accessed via a side entrance door) with two identical flats being provided at first floor 
(access being via a ground floor central front entrance door).   
 
The development would be served by 8 off-street parking spaces and access would be 
gained from the west via the existing highway serving Garth Cottages and the rear of 
Gwynnes Close. A bicycle storage area is also proposed.   Within the far eastern corner of 
the site and to the rear of Block B, a communal amenity/garden area would serve the needs 
of the future occupiers of the flats.  
 
The proposed development would require some engineering works including cutting into the 
embankment and providing a 1.8m high retaining wall to the rear of Block A, to the rear of 
the parking spaces 5 to 8 and to the northern side elevation of Block B.  It is also envisaged 
that some engineering works would be required to facilitate the communal amenity/garden 
area within the far eastern corner of the site.     
 

Page 22



PLANNING HISTORY 
 
There is no recent planning history relating to this application site.  
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader: No objection subject to 

conditions.   
 
Planning Division’s Policy & Implementation Officer:  No objection.  
 
Planning Division’s Landscape Architect: Raises no objection but 

advises that a condition would 
be required to ensure that 
Japanese Knotweed present 
on the site is dealt with 
appropriately.  

 
Environmental Health Manager: Raises no objection subject to 

conditions relating to land 
contamination, construction 
operation times and dust 
control.   

   
Welsh Water: No objection but it is 

highlighted that the site is 
crossed by a public sewer.  

 
Wales & West Utilities:      No objection. 
 
Western Power Distribution:     No response received.  
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW):     No objection.  
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining properties and site notices were 
displayed within the vicinity. 15 letters of objection have been received.  The objections and 
issues raised can be summarised as follows: 
 
The intended use of the buildings 
 

 Concern that the development of one bedroom flats would lead to fewer established 
families in the area.  Residents would prefer a development of 2/3 bedroom houses.  

 

 Increase in anti-social behaviour, burglary, and other crime.  
 
 
 

Page 23



Impact of the proposed development on the culverted watercourse which adjoins the site 
  

 Questions are raised as to whether there is sufficient information to assess the 
impact of the proposed development on the structural integrity of the culverted 
watercourse which runs along the rear of Trevethick Street.  

 
Privacy and amenity issues 

 

 Concern has been raised that the removal of trees on this site has affected the 
privacy of the rear aspect and gardens of Trevethick Street.  There is concern that 
the proposed buildings would overlook the rear garden areas of these properties.  
There is further concern that the parking areas would be situated close to their rear 
boundaries, thus further imposing upon the privacy of these properties.   
 

 The development would affect access to the rear gardens of neighbouring properties 
located on the northern side of Trevethick Street.   

 
Parking and Highway Safety 

 

 Concern that many of the potential occupants will own up to two cars and this would 
add to the traffic congestion during the mornings;  
 

Other issues 
 

 A question has been raised as to whether a bat survey has been carried out.  It is 
claimed that previously, it was quite usual to see bats flying around the rear of 
Trevethick Street.  However, after MTCBC sold the land, the trees were felled and it 
is now quite rare to see any bats.   

 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) – Edition 9, November 2016 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12 – Design 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15 – Development and Flood Risk 
 
Local Policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 
Policy BW1 – Development strategy – Primary growth area 
Policy BW4 – Settlement boundaries/locational constraints 
Policy BW6 – Townscape and built heritage 
Policy BW7 – Sustainable design and placemaking 
Policy BW8 – Development and the water environment 
Policy BW12 – Development proposals and transport 
Policy BW13 – Managing housing growth  
Policy BW16 – Protecting/enhancing the network of leisure facilities 
Policy BW17 – Securing community infrastructure benefits 

Page 24



Policy AS4 – Historic landscape  
Policy AS22 – Affordable housing contributions  
Policy TB11 – Access, parking and accessibility 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No.1 – Affordable Housing  
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No.2 – Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No. 4 – Sustainable Design 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No.5 – Nature and Development 
 
Other documents taken into consideration 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Open Space Strategy, June 2016 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The application proposes the development of 8 residential units on previously developed 
land, located within the defined settlement limits and a mainly residential area of Merthyr 
Tydfil. The use of the site for residential purposes in principle is therefore acceptable as it is 
in compliance with Policy BW4 which amongst other things, seeks to ensure that new 
development is in keeping with the existing land uses and is sustainable in terms of its 
location. A section of the eastern part of the site is identified in the Merthyr Tydfil Open 
Space Strategy as an ‘Amenity Greenspace’. However, since the land is now in private 
ownership (i.e. it used to be owned by the Council) it will be removed when the strategy is 
next updated. Nevertheless, it should be noted that this area of land is proposed to be used 
as an amenity area for the future occupiers of the flats and thus, if sympathetically 
landscaped, would continue to provide some visual amenity value from both within and 
outside the site. It should also be noted that this land forms part of much larger area of 
‘Amenity Greenspace’ and therefore any loss would be minimal in terms of its impact on the 
visual appearance of the area.      
 
The concerns raised by residents in relation to the type of housing proposed are 
acknowledged. However, the proposal would cater for a particular housing need and would 
simply add to the variety of housing accommodation in the area. Furthermore, the type of 
housing proposed is not a reason to refuse the application.   
 
The key considerations with regard to the application have therefore been determined as 
the impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area (and the adjoining 
Town Centre Conservation Area), the residential amenities of those living closest to the site 
and highway safety.  These matters are considered in detail below.   
 
Character and appearance of the area 
 
As specified above, the application proposes the development of 8 residential units 
provided by two detached, two storey buildings.  It is considered that the layout of the 
development and the design of the buildings would not have a detrimental impact on the 
overall character and appearance of the area.    
 
The northern boundary of the site does border the Town Centre Conservation Area.  
However, by siting the development to the side of number 8 Garth Cottages, the impact on 
the existing trees to the north would be limited. Also, as the development would mainly be 

Page 25



constructed on the flat area of ground, the extent of engineering works required to facilitate 
this development would not be significant.  However, existing and proposed level details are 
required prior to the commencement of development to ensure that the proposed ground 
works are acceptable from a visual amenity perspective.     
 
With regard to the design of the proposed flats, the surrounding properties are finished 
predominately in render.  They are all generally consistent in character, although there are 
some variations in the size of the houses and the pattern of fenestration.  The proposed 
flats would be accommodated within a pair of two-storey buildings which generally reflect 
the scale, mass and fenestration arrangement of the adjacent terrace to the west.  They 
would represent an acceptable infill development in the area with Block B being located so 
that it forms a natural end to the terraced street.  While the proposed fenestration 
arrangement is a little unsymmetrical, it does reflect the window patterns of the adjacent 
houses situated along Garth Cottages.  Furthermore, the central access door to the first 
floor flats does help to break up the front elevation on each of the respective buildings.  The 
external elevations of the buildings would also be rendered which would further ensure that 
the development is in keeping with the existing character of the area.  Therefore, having 
regard to the above, the design, size and scale of the buildings proposed are not 
considered to be out of keeping with the character and appearance of the area nor would 
they have an adverse impact upon the character of the Town Centre Conservation Area.  
On the basis of the above, the proposed development is compliant with the requirements of 
Policies BW6 and BW7 of the LDP.   
 
Residential amenity 
 
With regard to the impact on residential amenity, it is considered that the site is capable of 
being developed without causing a detrimental impact on privacy or overshadowing 
between the site and existing properties.  Although the proposed buildings would be two 
storeys and developed in close proximity to existing terraced properties, it is considered 
that the distance between the existing and proposed buildings is sufficient to ensure that 
the development would not have a significant overbearing or overshadowing impact on the 
existing dwellings.   
 
Whilst it is accepted that the front elevation of Block A would directly face the rear gardens 
of numbers 31 – 37 Trevethick Street, this building would be set back roughly in line with 
the front elevation of the adjoining end of terraced property (8 Garth Cottages). This 
enables a distance of 7.5m to be maintained between the front building line of Block A and 
the rear boundary of Trevethick Street, with a further 15m being maintained between the 
rear boundary and the dwellings themselves.   At this distance, it is not considered that the 
overlooking from Block A would adversely impact upon the privacy of the adjoining 
properties.  While Block B would be sited closer to the rear boundary of Trevethick Street, 
the primary elevations of this building would face away from the adjoining gardens.  This 
ensures that any direct overlooking from habitable windows is avoided. There are two, 
small first floor windows being proposed within the side elevation of this building, which 
would face Trevethick Street, but these windows would serve non-habitable rooms and can 
be obscurely glazed via a suitably worded condition.  In the same way, the windows in the 
western side elevation of Block A could also be obscured to ensure that there is no adverse 
overlooking to the window located within the gable end of number 8 Garth Cottages.  While 
the residents of Trevethick Street have also raised concerns in relation to the close 
proximity of the proposed parking areas to neighbouring houses, the presence of the 

Page 26



existing rear boundary walls/fences would safeguard their privacy from any potential 
intrusion.  
 
Having regard to the above, the proposed development would not adversely impact upon 
the amenities or privacy of the adjoining occupiers to such a degree that would warrant the 
refusal of planning permission. As such the proposal complies with Policy BW7 of the LDP.   
 
Highway safety 
 
With reference to parking and access issues and the objections raised by local residents, 
the Council’s Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has considered the information 
submitted with the application and has raised no objections subject to conditions. The 
conditions relate to the submission and approval of full engineering details of the internal 
road layout, hardstanding materials and surface water drainage.     
 
While residents have suggested that allowing the development would exacerbate traffic 
congestion in the area, there is no evidence to suggest that this would be the case.  As 
outlined earlier, the proposal includes 8 off-road parking spaces (1 space per flat).  Access 
would be achieved from the west via the existing highway which serves Garth Cottages.  
While concerns about highway safety and congestion in the surrounding area are noted, the 
additional traffic generated by 8, one bedroom flats would not result in a significant change 
to the way in which cars, other vehicles or pedestrians interact.   Forward visibility along 
Garth Cottages is adequate and would allow drivers to see vehicles approaching towards 
them and sufficient turning facilities would be provided within the site to allow vehicles to 
enter and exit in a forward gear.  Further to this, the application site is located within a 
sustainable location, close to the town centre, where many day-to-day activities can be 
accessed on foot, by bicycle or using public transport.  As a consequence, residents may 
choose not to own a car.   
 
Taking all these matters into account, the proposed development would not harm highway 
or pedestrian safety.  Furthermore, given the size of the flats being proposed, the amount of 
parking being provided is acceptable and as such, the proposal would not lead to a material 
increase in on-street parking demands in the area.  The proposal would therefore comply 
with Policy BW12 of the LDP.  
 
Other matters 
 
The residents concern regarding the impact of this development upon the culverted 
watercourse which lies to the rear of Trevethick Street has been fully assessed.  In this 
respect, it is noted that the Council has liaised with the developer to gain the necessary 
information to enable an assessment to be made of the likely impacts of this proposal on 
the culvert structure.  A survey has been undertaken to find the exact route and depth of the 
culvert.  This confirms that the outer wall of the culvert is positioned 5m to the south of 
‘Block B’ and 2m to the south of the four linear parking spaces which are proposed along 
the southern boundary of the site.   Having assessed the information provided, the 
Council’s Engineering and Traffic Group Manager has raised no objection to the 
development, noting that the proposal would have no adverse loading on the culvert 
structure.     
 

Page 27



Further representations have been received from local residents in relation to the impact of 
the proposal on the ability of resident’s to access their rear garden areas from the site.  
However, this site is within private ownership and as such any access over the land is a 
civil matter. In terms of the issues and concerns raised regarding anti-social behaviour, 
burglary and other crime, there is no substantive evidence to indicate that the development 
of 8, one bedroom flats would be detrimental to community safety. Indeed, the development 
would provide additional surveillance to the area.    
 
The presence of Japanese Knotweed on this site has been noted and the Council’s 
Landscape Architect has advised a standard condition to ensure that this matter is 
appropriately addressed prior to the commencement of works on the site, should planning 
permission be approved.  This condition would ensure the control or eradication of this 
invasive species.   
 
With regard to the query raised in relation to the presence of bats, the Council’s 
Countryside Officer has been consulted and has not raised any concern about the impact of 
the development on protected species.  
 
Whilst the comments raised by the Environmental Health Section are appreciated, it is 
considered dust and waste matters can be more efficiently controlled by other legislation.  
An appropriate note can be added to any permission concerning waste and dust issues.   
 
Planning Obligations 
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021 
consider the requirement for planning obligations and affordable housing contributions on 
all residential schemes.  On proposed residential developments of less than 10 units or 
where it can be demonstrated that on-site provision for affordable housing is not possible, 
the Council will require a financial contribution towards the provision of affordable housing 
elsewhere in the corresponding growth area of the LDP. 
 
The requirement for an affordable housing contribution towards the proposed development 
has been assessed by the Planning Division’s Policy & Implementation Group Leader.  In 
this instance no planning obligations for the provision of affordable housing or any other 
contributions have been sought as this would likely render the development financially 
unviable. In order to come to this conclusion, an assessment has been carried out using the 
Three Dragons Toolkit. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Whilst acknowledging that residents have raised a number of concerns to this proposal, the 
application is considered to comply with the relevant policies of the local development plan 
in respect of the provision of new housing within a sustainable location to the north of 
Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. Although the proposed site does lie in close proximity to a 
culverted watercourse, it has been determined that a sufficient separation distance would 
be maintained between the development and the culvert to ensure no adverse effect upon 
its integrity. Although a number of objections have been received from local residents in 
relation to the impact of the proposal upon the privacy and general amenity standards of 
those living nearby, the development is not considered to be unduly harmful to the 
amenities of the surrounding properties.  The proposal is also considered to be acceptable 

Page 28



in terms of its impact upon the character and appearance of the area, highway safety and 
the ecological value of the wider area.   
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into 
consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following recommendation, 
the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus 
the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as 
required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS 
 
 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 
  
 - Site location plan received on 30th November 2017 
 - Proposed site plan & typical floor plans - Drawing No. PL 02 
 - Proposed elevations & site sections - Drawing No. PL 03 
 - Proposed site sections B-B, C-C & D-D - Drawing No. PL 04 
 - Relationship between proposed flats at Garth Cottages and Morlais Culvert Merthyr 

Tydfil April 2018 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the 

scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Prior to the construction of the buildings hereby approved, details and/or samples of 

the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed development will 

be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining buildings in the interests of 
visual amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

  
  
 
 4. Prior to the occupation of the buildings hereby approved a plan indicating the 

positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The boundary 

Page 29



treatment shall be completed as approved before the beneficial occupation of the 
flats.  

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive and 

boundaries protected in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

  
  
 
 5. No development shall take place until a Phase 1 Land Contamination investigation 

has been carried out.  The Phase 1 report shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority prior to the commencement of any necessary 
Phase 2 investigation.  The report shall assess potential risks to present and 
proposed receptors, i.e. humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface 
waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.  The 
investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11" 

  
 The report shall be prepared by a "competent person" and shall be in accordance 

with BS10175:2011 Code of Practice for the Investigation of Potentially 
Contaminated Sites. 

  
 Reason - To ensure the risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 

and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
 6. Should the Phase 1 Contamination investigation carried out under condition 5 

identify the presence of potentially unacceptable risks, no development shall take 
place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried out. 

  
 A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority before the commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. 
  
 The completed Phase 2 investigation report together with any necessary outline 

remediation options shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried 
out. 

  
 The report shall access potential risks to present and proposed receptors, i.e. 

humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service 
lines and pipes, adjoining land, ground waters and surface waters, ecological 
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.  The investigation must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR11".  

  

Page 30



 The report shall be prepared by a "competent person" and shall be in accordance 
with BS10175:2011 Code of Practice for the Investigation of Potentially 
Contaminated Sites.   

  
 Reason - To ensure the risks from land contamination to future users of land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
7. Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as neccessary under 

condition 6, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to 
bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing any 
unacceptable risks to human health, controlled waters, buildings, other property and 
the natural and historic environment, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority.  The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a timetable of works and 
site management procedures and details of any neccessary long term maintenance 
and monitoring programme.  The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any 
subsequent version, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.   

  
 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation 

scheme unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.   
  
 Reason - To ensure the risks from land contamination to future users of land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
 8. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 

and prior to the beneficial occupation of the development, a verification report (or 
validation report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out 
must be produced together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance 
programme and copies of any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported 
soils shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

  
 The approved monitoring and maintenance programme shall be implemented. 
  
 The verification report shall be prepared by a third party and a "competent person". 
  
 Reason - To ensure the risks from land contamination to future users of land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
  
 9. No development shall take place until details, including structural calculations and 

facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The walls shall 

Page 31



be completed in accordance with the approved details before the development 
hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  
 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 

of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan . 
  
  
 
10. No development shall take place until details of the construction of the car parking 

areas shown on drawing number PL02;, including levels, drainage and details of the 
finished surface have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. Development shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of the flats; and the car parking spaces shall 
remain available for their designated use in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that vehicles are parked off the highway in the interests of road 

safety in accordance with Policies BW12 and TB11 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

  
 
11. No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the disposal of foul 

and surface water has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the beneficial use of the development and retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 

accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
  
  
 
12. No development shall take place, or any demolition works or site clearance, until 

details of a scheme for the eradication of Japanese Knotweed (Fallonica japonica, 
Rouse decraene, Polygonum cuspidatum) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 

  
 Reason - To ensure compliance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
  
  
 
13. Before the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the first floor windows 

in the south-eastern (side) elevation of 'Block B' and the western (side) elevation of 
'Block A' shall be fitted with obscured glazing, details of which shall first be submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority and any part of the window 
that is less than 1.7m above the floor of the room in which it is installed shall be non-
opening. The windows shall be permanently retained in that condition thereafter. 

  
 Reason - In the interest of residential amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the 

Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 
  

Page 32



  
 
14. Demolition or construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 08:00 to 

18:00 Mondays to Fridays and 09:00 to 14:00 on Saturdays and at no time on 
Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of nuisance to 

occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Development Plan. 

 
15. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development shall commence until 

details of existing ground levels and proposed finished ground and floor levels 
(including relevant sections) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason - To protect residential and visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 of 

the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
  
  
 
16. No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping. 
The scheme shall include indications of all existing trees (including spread and 
species) and hedgerows on the land, identify those to be retained and set out 
measures for their protection throughout the course of development. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

  
  
 
17. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 

be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of 
the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. The applicants/developers attention is drawn to the comments of the Authority's 

Environmental Health Department regarding the potential problem to neighbouring 
properties arising from the creation of noise and dust during the construction 

Page 33



process. To avoid unexpected and unnecessary enforcement action by the Public 
Health and Protection department, the applicant/developer is advised to contact the 
Environmental Health Department prior to the commencement of development to 
agree an appropriate method of noise and dust suppression. 

 
 2. No surface water from the development should be allowed to be discharged onto the 

public highway. 
 
 
 

Page 34



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 07th June 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th June 2018 

 
 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

P/16/0235 25.07.2016 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Residential development Former Ysgol Santes 

Tudful School 
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Mr G Pritchard 
C/O Stephen George Architects 
25 Courtland Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0DT 

 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/17/3190603 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  23.03.2018 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 37



 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 38



 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 07th June 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th June 2018 

 
 
Application No. 

 
Date 

 
Determining Authority 

P/17/0307 18.10.2017 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Retrospective application for 
the erection of a canopy 

7 Parc Wenallt 
Treharris 
CF46 5HX 

Mr Mike Williams 
C/O JKA Drawing Services 
F.a.o. Mr J Arthur 
211 Merthyr Road 
Pontypridd 
CF37 4DH 

 

 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/D/18/3194654 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  03.04.2018 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 42



 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

 

COMMITTEE  
 

Planning, Regulatory & 
Licensing 

COMMITTEE DATE 
 

20th June 2018 

 
 

REVIEW OF PLANNING APPLICATION DECISIONS 2018 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT:  To advise Committee Members of the outcome of a review of a 
sample of decisions made by the Planning, Regulatory & Licensing Committee following the 
site visits made on 19th April 2018. 
 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1.1 In accordance with the requirements of the Planning Code of Conduct at 

Section 5.05.15 of the Council’s Constitution, a review of a sample of planning 
decisions made by the Planning, Regulatory & Licensing Committee was 
undertaken on 19th April 2018.  
 

1.1.2 All Planning committee Councillors were invited to attend. Councillors D 
Chaplin and M Colbran attended and assessed the quality and consistency of 
decisions. The Councillors were accompanied by the Head of Planning & 
Countryside, Development Control Group Leader and Principal Planning 
Officer. A summary of the findings of the review are provided below:- 

 
2.0 P/13/0191 – Land off Gelligaer Road, Trelewis – Residential development 

comprising 124 (2, 3 & 4 bed) dwellings. 
 
Findings:  
 

 Strong frontage provided by a dry stone wall and houses fronting onto 
the road / entrance 

 Clearly defined streets resulting in a sense of place (secured following 
negotiation by the Group Leader) 

 Solid boundary treatments – brick (close board fencing resisted) 

 ‘Heritage range’ house types sympathetic to the character & 
appearance of the area 

 Consistent palette of quality materials. 

 Strong landscaping 

 SUDS area 

 Integrated affordable housing 

 Natural play area, natural surveillance achieved through houses 
orientated to overlook 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



 Parking areas to the side of houses results in streets not dominated by 
cars 

 
Officer recommendation: Approve subject to Conditions. 
Committee decision: Approved subject to Conditions. 
 
 

3.0 P/15/0324 - Walters Terrace, Aberfan – Residential development (6 flats 
and 17 houses) 
 
Findings: 
 

 100% affordable housing scheme 

 Negotiated houses to be turned around from originally submitted 
proposal to take advantage of the cross valley views 

 Consistent boundary treatments (use of railings to define private 
spaces) 

 Large amount of close board fencing to the rear which detracts from 
the overall quality of the scheme but necessary for safety and privacy  

 Parking areas defined by different surface treatment / colour. Noted 
that there was a lot of parking provided 

 Scale of buildings considered to be in keeping with surrounding area 

 Materials – reconstituted stone with red elements, similar to local 
sandstone found in the area. Dark grey fenestration gives a modern 
feel 

 Landscaping provided, its success depends on maintenance  
 
Officer recommendation: Approve subject to Conditions. 
Committee decision: Approved subject to Conditions  

 
4.0 P/15/0169 – Solar farm with associated infrastructure 

 
Findings: 
 

 5MW solar farm set within a historic landscape adjacent to Gelligaer 
Common 

 1st solar farm in Merthyr Tydfil 

 The topography of the land helps to screen the development and make 
it discreet 

 Cllr Colbran commented that it was not at all intrusive and was the 
perfect location 

 Sheep noted grazing amongst the solar panels 

 Mitigation secured as part of the planning permission in the form of a 
hedgerow to be provided around the boundary of the site 

 
Officer recommendation: Be Approved subject to conditions 
Committee decision: Approved subject to conditions  
 

Page 46



5.0 P/16/0322 - Gellideg Wellbeing Centre, Swansea Road – 3 storey 
community centre and early years wing for the Gellideg Foundation. 
 

 Findings:  
 

 Landmark building for community use, providing early learning centre 
etc 

 Design details such as cylinder feature, longer shaped brick etc noted 

 Security measures a key consideration 

 Community interest noted on site 

 Materials - use of corten steel and clay brick 

 Scale of building considered appropriate given topography of site and 
surrounding buildings 

 Quality of views from building 
 

Officer Recommendation: Approve subject to Conditions 
Committee decision: Approved subject to Conditions  

 
 

6.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the review of planning decisions made by the 

Planning, Regulatory & Licensing Committee be accepted. 
 

 
 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1 MARCH 2018 – 31 MAY 2018 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/14/0198 Land North Of Ty Llwyd 
Incline Top 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Residential development with 
associated access 

Outline Approval 28/03/2018 

P/16/0327 Cwrtycelyn Farm 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6TD 
 

Demolition of old stables and 
garage and conversion of barn 
to a 2 bed self contained 
residential unit 

Full Approval 06/04/2018 

P/16/0353 Land At Ty Llwyd Farm 
Ty Llwyd Parc 
Quakers Yard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Application to extend the time 
for the submission of Reserved 
Matters and the 
commencement of works and 
to remove conditions 5, 6 and 7 
(relating to Code for Sustainable 
Homes) in respect of Planning 
Permission P/13/0282 (Outline 
Planning) 
 

Outline Approval 04/04/2018 

P/16/0379 Former St Margarets 
Spiritualist Church 
Lower Thomas Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0BY 
 

Refurbishment of existing 
building and conversion to 5 
residential units 

Listed Building Consent 12/03/2018 

P/17/0295 Fernwood 
Gwaelodygarth Villas 
Gwaelodygarth Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AX 
 

Erection of a dwelling Outline Approval 30/04/2018 

P/17/0297 Site Of Former Dairy 
Bontnewydd Terrace 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
 

Variation of conditions 2 and 6 
of planning permission 
P/14/0248 to retain a buff brick 
boundary wall 
 

Full Approval 25/05/2018 

  

DATE WRITTEN 7th June 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th June 2018 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0333 Former Heolgerrig 
Brickworks 
(Trago Mills)  
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 

Variation of condition 17 of 
planning permission P/00/0268 
to enable the comprehensive 
leisure facilities to be brought 
into use within 2 years of the 
retail store being open 
 

Removal or Variation of 
Condition  

28/03/2018 

P/17/0334 Former Heolgerrig 
Brickworks 
(Trago Mills)  
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 

Variation of conditions 5, 14, 
17, 19, 28, 29 and 33 of 
approval P/03/0130 relating to: 
implementation of leisure 
facilities; access/servicing/car 
parking/vehicles 
turning/loading and unloading 
areas; provision of a bicycle 
parking area; disabled access; 
extend service/delivery times 
from 7:30 am - 5:30 pm to 7:00 
am - 10:00 pm for Trago's 
service/delivery vehicles; 
submission of landscaping 
scheme and contamination 
remediation 
 

Removal or Variation of 
Condition  

28/03/2018 

P/17/0335 Former Heolgerrig 
Brickworks 
(Trago Mills)  
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 

Removal of condition 1 
(landscaping) and variation of 
condition 13 (to extend the 
service/delivery hours from 
7:30 am - 5:30 pm to 7:00 am - 
10:00 pm) of planning 
permission P/10/0014 
 

Removal or Variation of 
Condition  

28/03/2018 

P/17/0356 Land Adjacent To 8 
Perrott Street 
Treharris 
 
 

Erection of Veterinary Surgery 
with associated external works 
(including retaining works) 

Full Approval 14/03/2018 

P/17/0362 Caversham 
Heol-Y-Mynydd 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NQ 
 

Change of use of residential 
outbuilding to a dog grooming 
parlour 

Full Approval 05/03/2018 

P/18/0005 Nant Wen Farm  
Oakland Street 
Bedlinog 
CF46 6TE 
 

Convert barns into three 
bedroom dwelling to include 
external alterations 
 
 

Full Approval 09/03/2018 

  

Page 50



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0008 Unit 12D Cyfarthfa 
Retail Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Variation of conditions 1 
(approved plans)  and 3 
(mezzanines) of planning 
permission P/16/0009 to omit 
the provision of a mezzanine 
level in Unit 12D 
 

Removal or Variation of 
Condition  

07/03/2018 

P/18/0009 5 Bontnewydd Terrace 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AF 
 

Demolition of existing single 
storey rear annexes and 
erection of two storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 05/03/2018 

P/18/0012 Ash Villa 
Ash Road 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4HH 
 

Convert dwelling into one, two 
bedroom flat at ground floor 
and tourist accommodation unit 
at first floor, to include rear 
extension (incorporating path at 
roof level).  Convert detached 
garage into two storey 
bunkhouse to include external 
alterations.  Change of use of 
land to the rear of property to 
provide a camping site (with 9 
cabins) with associated shower 
block, parking and refuse store.  
Regrading of land to the rear of 
garage to provide a stepped 
access 
 

Full Approval 11/04/2018 

P/18/0022 Hafod Tanglwys Isaf 
Farm 
Bryntaf 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4PS 
 

Two storey and single storey 
extension 

Listed Building Consent 18/04/2018 

P/18/0025 St Tydfil's Park 
New Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of boundary fence Full Approval 12/03/2018 

P/18/0026 1 Glynmil Close 
Bradley Gardens 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GE 
 

Proposed two storey side 
extension 

Full Approval 09/03/2018 

P/18/0028 10 Saxon Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8SP 
 

Erection of single storey and 
first floor rear extension 

Full Approval 06/03/2018 

Page 51



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0032 Land At 
Penyrheolgerrig 
Bungalow 
Farm Road 
Mount Pleasant 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Renewal of outline planning 
permission P/15/0018 for the 
erection of a dwelling 

Outline Approval 12/03/2018 

P/18/0033 10 Forest Grove 
Edwardsville 
Treharris 
CF46 5NG 
 

Installation of hydro therapy 
pool with associated re-profilng 
works and retaining walls and 
erection of garden shed 

Full Approval 13/03/2018 

P/18/0034 Land To The Rear Of 
Ynysygored Cottages 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Siting of a static caravan to 
provide a site security office 
and workers welfare facility 

Refusal 26/03/2018 

P/18/0037 56 High Street Top 
Dowlais 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3PW 
 

Construct a garage Full Approval 12/03/2018 

P/18/0038 8 Brondeg 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TW 
 

Two storey rear extension Full Approval 27/03/2018 

P/18/0039 Land Side Of 80 
Cilhaul 
Treharris 
 

Construction of stable block and 
tack room 

Full Approval 13/03/2018 

P/18/0040 Bryn Eira 
Winch Fawr Road 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TF 
 

Erection of dormer roof 
extension, alterations to 
external elevations with 
changes relating to windows, 
doors and finishes and 
associated landscaping works 
 

Refusal 21/03/2018 

P/18/0041 54 Bryngoleu 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4PB 
 

Erection of detached garage Full Approval 13/03/2018 

  

Page 52



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0045 2 Calluna Close 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HF 
 

First floor extension Full Approval 12/03/2018 

P/18/0047 Land Adjoining 24 
Gelligaer Road 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6DN 
 

Erection of detached dwelling Full Approval 04/05/2018 

P/18/0048 Heolgerrig Primary 
School  
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1SB 
 

Erection of canopy Full Approval 19/03/2018 

P/18/0049 Plots 5 And 10 
Pengarnddu Industrial 
Estate 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2TA 
 

Change of use of storage 
building to renewable energy 
facility including the installation 
of a biomass boiler 

Full Approval 10/04/2018 

P/18/0051 32 Sixth Avenue 
Galon Uchaf 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9UF 
 

Retrospective permission for 
the change of use of land to 
residential curtilage and 
retention of outbuilding 

Full Approval 15/03/2018 

P/18/0055 92 Brondeg 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TP 
 

Two storey rear extension Full Approval 26/03/2018 

P/18/0056 9 Tramroadside 
Treharris 
CF46 5EF 

Extension of garden curtilage.  
Raise the ridge height of the 
existing property and construct 
a rear dormer, two storey side 
extension, single storey rear 
extension, chimney breast and 
alter the front porch.  Erect 
retaining wall to rear garden 
with associated landscaping 
 

Refusal 13/04/2018 

P/18/0057 4 Japonica Drive 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of two storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 27/03/2018 

  

Page 53



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0058 Tynycoed 
27 Pandy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PB 
 

Erection of single storey 
extension 

Full Approval 27/03/2018 

P/18/0059 Iona 
St Tydfils Avenue 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0NW 
 

Erection of front and rear 
dormers, single storey rear 
extension and provision of 
parking area to the front of the 
dwelling 

Full Approval 27/03/2018 

P/18/0060 4 Star Yard 
Yew Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Change of use from storage (use 
class B8) to a micro brewery 

Full Approval 10/04/2018 

P/18/0061 Land Formerly Part Of 
Meadowsweet Farm 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6TB 
 

Erection of an agricultural 
building (re-submission) 

Full Approval 18/04/2018 

P/18/0063 Land Rear Of 10-12 
Briarmead 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Crown reduction to 3 Ash trees Tree Works Approval 13/03/2018 

P/18/0066 19 Park Place 
Penydarren Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0DJ 
 

Change of use from A1 (Retail) 
to A3 (take away) 

Full Approval 11/04/2018 

P/18/0068 20 Hanover Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8SW 
 

Erection of proposed garage 
and retrospective permission 
for a pigeon shelter, single 
storey rear extension and raised 
patio with associated retaining 
wall 
 

Full Approval 17/04/2018 

P/18/0069 Preswylfa 
Heolgerrig 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1SB 
 

Erection of garage to the rear 
(accessed off the adjoining lane 
"Gully Nanny") 

Full Approval 10/04/2018 

  

Page 54



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0070 21 Ty Llwyd Parc 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5LA 
 

Proposed rear and side single 
storey extension 

Full Approval 20/04/2018 

P/18/0072 Ridgeway  
Pleasant View 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6SF 
 

Erection of side extension Full Approval 24/04/2018 

P/18/0073 1 Pentwyn Villas 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PJ 
 

Erection of two storey side and 
rear extension, single storey 
rear extension, detached garage 
and other external works 
 

Full Approval 15/05/2018 

P/18/0074 Land Adjoining Unit D 
Triangle Business Park 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4TQ 
 

Installation of two air 
conditioning condenser units 
and two extraction grilles 

Full Approval 11/04/2018 

P/18/0075 Land Adjoining  
Unit D 
Triangle Business Park 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4TQ 
 

Erection of two internally 
illuminated fascia signs 

Advertisement Approval 11/04/2018 

P/18/0077 5 Pontmorlais 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UB 
 

Change of use from shop (A1 
use class) to Solicitors (A2 use 
class) 

Full Approval 25/04/2018 

P/18/0078 Unit 31 Pant Industrial 
Estate 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SR 
 

Erect mezzanine floor to include 
external alterations to the 
building 

Full Approval 08/05/2018 

P/18/0079 B&Q 
Cyfarthfa Retail Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erect one non illuminated sign Advertisement Approval 24/04/2018 

  

Page 55



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0080 43 - 45 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DE 
 

Conversion of the first floor into 
8, 1 bedroom self contained 
flats, to include external 
alterations 

Full Approval 24/05/2018 

P/18/0082 43 Cottrell Street 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QU 
 

Erection of rear conservatory Full Approval 30/04/2018 

P/18/0085 Former Merthyr Vale 
Colliery  
Golwg Yr Afon 
Nixonville 
Merthyr Vale 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Advertisement scheme 
comprising 4 flag poles and 2 
freestanding signs 

Advertisement Approval 01/05/2018 

P/18/0087 Parcel Of Land Within 
Curtilage Of Llywenydd 
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5BS 
 

Erection of 2 No. dwellings Refusal 16/05/2018 

P/18/0089 29 Dan-Y-Parc View 
Incline Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GF 
 

Erection of rear extension and 
conversion of a garage 

Full Approval 16/05/2018 

P/18/0092 Walled Garden 
Cyfarthfa Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erect five aluminium 
information board signs 

Advertisement Approval 10/05/2018 

P/18/0093 5 Heol Nant Caiach 
Treharris 
CF46 5RZ 

First floor side extension and 
convert garage into lounge (to 
include front extension) 
 

Full Approval 10/05/2018 

P/18/0094 Capel Ar Y Bryn 
Brickfield Crescent 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0DW 
 

Conversion of existing dwelling 
into 2 No. dwellings, erection of 
dormer roof extension and 
other associated works 
including creation of a new 
access and car parking 
 

Refusal 24/05/2018 

P/18/0095 87 Ty Llwyd Parc 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5LB 
 

Front roof extension Refusal 11/05/2018 

  

Page 56



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0096 6 Alexandra Close 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9AB 
 

Demolition of existing garage 
and erection of new garage 

Full Approval 22/05/2018 

P/18/0097 Welsh Assembly 
Government 
Rhydycar Business Park 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1UZ 
 

Installation of two silos and 
associated pipework (in 
association with a new biomass 
system) 

Full Approval 25/05/2018 

P/18/0098 15 Ynys-Y-Gored Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QF 
 

Erect two storey rear extension 
and garage within the rear 
garden 

Full Approval 15/05/2018 

P/18/0099 Taff Bargoed Park 
(former Deep 
Navigation Colliery) 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
 
 

Variation of conditions 3 
(materials), 4 (drainage) and 5 
(finishes of hardstanding) of 
planning permission P/17/0282, 
to enable the commencement 
of development on the 
spectator stand 

Removal or Variation of 
Condition  

21/05/2018 

P/18/0101 Land Opposite Valley 
View 
Mountain Hare 
Penheolferthyr 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0LH 
 

Erection of detached dwelling 
and outbuilding 

Full Approval 16/05/2018 

P/18/0102 Grass Verge On 
Junction Of  
Bryniau Road 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erect a freestanding directional 
sign 

Refusal (Advertisement) 22/05/2018 

P/18/0105 Land At 106 Heolgerrig 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TD 
 

Erection of 2 dwellings Outline Approval 17/05/2018 

P/18/0106 65 Aberfan Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QJ 

Erection of detached garage Full Approval 21/05/2018 

  

Page 57



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0107 The Arches 
Land Adjacent To 1 
Graig House 
Pentwyn Deintyr 
Treharris 
CF46 5EA 
 

Vary condition 3 of planning 
permission P/05/0315 to allow 
surface water flows to the 
public combined sewerage 
system 
 

Removal or Variation of 
Condition 

25/05/2018 

P/18/0109 77 Harlech Drive 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JU 
 

Single storey extension to side 
and rear of property 

Full Approval 25/05/2018 

P/18/0112 37 Aberfan Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QN 
 

Erect first floor rear extension Full Approval 31/05/2018 

P/18/0113 21 Clos Cwm Golau 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0JA 
 

Erection of rear conservatory Full Approval 29/05/2018 

P/18/0118 The Priory 
Pontmorlais West 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8RG 
 

Crown lift lime tree to gain 5.2 
metre clearance over  highway 

Tree Works Approval 01/05/2018 

P/18/0119 Plot 11 
Former Sandbrook Day 
Centre 
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0ES 
 

Erection of a detached dwelling Full Approval 29/05/2018 

 

 

Page 58



                           Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
                    Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN
        Main Tel: 01685 725000    www.merthyr.gov.uk

Planning, Regulatory and Licensing Report

To:  Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen

Delegated Authority – Taxi Licensing

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT:

To seek approval from the Planning Regulatory & Licensing Committee to submit a report 
to Full Council to obtain a resolution to extend delegated authority for officers to consider 
& determine taxi licence renewal applications made up to three days after the expiry of the 
previous licence.

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1.1 On the 15th July 2015 Full Council resolved to give delegated authority to both the 
Public Protection and Housing Manager and to the Trading Standards and Licensing 
Manager in consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services so that either 
of them could separately determine applications to re-license drivers and vehicles where 
the application to renew was made one day after the expiry of the previous licence. All 
other late applications (those more than 1 day late) have been determined by the 
Planning Regulatory & Licensing Committee.

2.0 THE COUNCIL’S CONDITIONS

2.1 The Council as the Licensing Authority for the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
undertakes all aspects of licensing for the local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
trade. To run or operate Private Hire or Hackney Carriages a number of separate 
licences are required. For instance for Private Hire three licences are required namely:-

 a Private Hire Operators licence – (5 year licence)
 a Private Hire Vehicle licence - (annual licence)

Date Written 8th June 2018
Report Author Simon Jones
Service Area Legal & Democratic Services
Exempt/Non Exempt Non exempt
Committee Date 20th June 2018

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



 a Private Hire Drivers licence – (3 year licence)

Whereas for Hackney Carriages two licences are required namely:-

 a Hackney Carriage proprietors licence aka a vehicle licence - (annual licence)
 a Hackney Carriage Drivers licence – (3 year licence)

2.2 The Council’s adopted procedures state amongst other things that:-

 Any new applicant for a Private Hire/Hackney Carriage Drivers licence must a 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driving Standard Test as part of their 
application and a licence to drive will not be issued until a pass certificate is 
provided. An existing license holder applying to renew his/her licence is not 
required to provide a new pass certificate providing the application is received 
prior to the expiry of the existing licence.

 Any application for the grant of a Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence and a Private 
Hire Vehicle Licence in respect of a vehicle which is over four years old from date of 
manufacture or from date of first licensing (whichever be the earlier) will be refused. 
A vehicle which is over 4 years old can however be licenced provided the vehicle 
was first licensed before it was 4 years old and it is being relicensed prior to the 
expiry of its existing licence.

2.3 Being able to renew a current licence as opposed to obtaining a new licence is for the 
above reasons an important consideration for the taxi trade in the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough and elsewhere in the UK where similar conditions apply.  An applicant in both 
instances will whenever possible seek to renew as opposed to being granted a fresh 
licence to avoid the vehicle falling foul of the 4 year policy and in the case of a driver 
having to undergo a driving test.

3.0 CASE LAW

3.1 When coming to a decision, whether or not to grant an application to renew a licence 
made after the expiry of the old licence, the Planning Regulatory & Licensing Committee 
and officers using current delegated powers have regard to case law namely Exeter City 
Council v Sandle 2011. This is an Appeal Court decision which states that if someone 
applies to renew a licence 1 day after the expiry of the old licence then the application 
should be granted and treated as a renewal. If an application is however received two to 
three days late extending the renewal period would require very good reasons for the 
delay for it to be entertained; and delay beyond that would require exceptional 
circumstances.

4.0 CURRENT POSITION

4.1 Applications to licence driver and/or vehicle licences made 1 day after the expiry of the 
current licence are considered and determined by the Public Protection and Housing 
Manager and/or the Trading Standards and Licensing Manager in consultation with the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services. Applications made more than 1 day late are 
determined by the Planning Regulatory & Licensing Committee. 

4.2  To allow applicants to put forward verbal representations explaining why they believe 
their application should be granted, we convene a Licensing sub-committee where the 
applicant can verbally address members. These verbal representations are then 
reported to the Full Planning Regulatory & Licensing Committee and taken into account Page 60



when it considers the request. There is no mechanism for an applicant to address the 
Planning Regulatory & Licensing Committee direct. 

5. CURRENT PROPOSAL

5.1 In line with the Exeter City Council v Sandle case it is proposed to extend the delegation 
to officers namely the Public Protection & Housing Manager and the Trading Standards 
& Licensing Manager to allow them to determine all late applications that are received 
up to three days from the date of expiry of the old licence. It is also proposed that should 
such delegated authority be given then the exercising of the same by the 
aforementioned officers will only be done following consultation with the Chair or Vice 
Chair of the Planning Regulatory & Licensing Committee and the Head of Legal & 
Democratic Services. If this extended delegation is given it will allow for decisions to be 
made more quickly, it will reduce the number of matters going before the Full Planning 
Regulatory & Licensing Committee and will cover applications made where there is an 
intervening weekend which takes the late application over the current 1 day limit for 
officer consideration. 

5.2 All applications received which are over 3 days late will still be put to the Full Planning 
Regulatory & Licensing Committee using the same process as set out in 4.2 above.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 There are no financial implications save that if extended delegated authority is given it 
will avoid the cost of convening both a Planning Regulatory & Licensing Committee and 
a Sub-Committee to deal with the application.

7.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

7.1 That a report be submitted to Full Council recommending that a resolution be made 
giving delegated authority to both the Public Protection & Housing Manager and the 
Trading Standards & Licensing Manager in consultation with the Chair or Vice Chair of 
Planning and the Head of Legal & Democratic Services to determine applications to 
relicense drivers and vehicles made up to three days after the expiry of the previous 
licence.  

Gareth Wayne Chapman
Chief Executive

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Report to Council & 
Minutes 15th July 2015 Council website

Page 61



Page 62


	Agenda
	3 P/17/0294 - Y Goedwig, Cardiff Road, Treharris, CF46 5NB
	4 P/17/0350 - Land adjacent to Garth Cottages and Foreman Place, Gwynnes Close, Merthyr Tydfil
	5 P/16/0235 Appeal Decision
	6 P/17/0307 Appeal Decision
	7 Review of Planning Application Decisions 2018
	8 Delegated Report
	9 Delegated Authority - Taxi Licensing

